

BYLAWS
OF
AMERICAN BIRKEBEINER SKI FOUNDATION, INC.

Incorporated as a Non-stock Corporation
Under Chapter 181 of the Wisconsin Statutes

(Established October 20, 1993. Amended November 16, 2009, March 16, 2015, May 3, 2016, September 19, 2016, December 5, 2016, April 24, 2017, April 12, 2018, May 21, 2018, October 15, 2018, December 3, 2018, September 23, 2019, March 30, 2020, April 20, 2020, June 3, 2020, October 19, 2020)

The mission of the American Birkebeiner Ski Foundation is:

- To promote and conduct the finest international cross country ski competition;
- To serve as good stewards of the American Birkebeiner Trail;
- To support healthy and active lifestyles among people of all ages and abilities.

ARTICLE I General

Section 1. Purpose of Corporation. The purposes of this Corporation shall be as set forth in the Articles of Incorporation of the Corporation. These Bylaws specify various matters affecting the operations and governance of the Corporation.

Section 2. Nondiscrimination. The American Birkebeiner Ski Foundation does not discriminate on the basis of race, physical handicap, sex, color, religion, sexual orientation, national origin, marital status or age and is committed to a policy of fair representation on the board of directors.

Section 3. Principal Office. The principal office of the Corporation in the State of Wisconsin shall be located in the City of Hayward, Sawyer County, Wisconsin.

ARTICLE II Members

Section 1. Classes. The Corporation shall have one class of members with three (3) categories of membership: Individual, Family, and Business.

Section 2. Membership.

(a) A member of said Corporation shall be any individual, family, or business entity which has paid current annual dues to said Corporation, the specific amount for said

annual dues for each category of membership as determined from time to time by the Board of Directors.

(b) The term of annual membership shall be from April 1 to March 31 of the subsequent year.

Section 3. Responsibilities and Voting Rights of Members.

(a) Members shall have no responsibilities and voting rights on any matter except as specifically set forth herein.

(b) Each member who has paid dues as required under Section 2 each year in which voting takes place shall be entitled to vote on any matter submitted to a vote of the members as a whole. This entitlement includes the annual election of the Board of Directors except for the Board Treasurer and the Directors appointed to represent Bayfield and Sawyer counties. The voting rights of each membership category shall be as follows:

Individual – one vote

Family – two votes

Business – one vote

No person shall have more than one vote.

(c) All measures, except those regulated by Statute or specifically provided herein, shall be determined by a majority vote of the members present at a meeting at which there is a quorum.

(d) The current list of all ABSF members with addresses shall be provided to any member in good standing who has agreed in writing not to use the list for any commercial purpose, not to use the list to solicit money or property for any purpose other than election to the ABSF Board of Directors, not to sell the list or to share the list with any other person, organization or business.

Section 4. Meetings.

(a) Annual Meeting. An annual meeting of the members shall be held on the second Saturday in August of each year, or as near to that date as the Board of Directors deems appropriate, at a time specified by the Board of Directors. Each member shall receive at least ten (10) days' notice of every such meeting. The annual meeting shall be for the transaction of such business as may come before the meeting. Failure to hold the annual meeting shall not work a forfeiture or dissolution of the Corporation.

(b) Special Meetings. Upon the receipt of a written request by the President, a majority of the Board of Directors, or ten percent of the existing members, the Secretary shall call a special meeting of the members. Such meeting shall be scheduled within thirty (30) days of the receipt of such request.

Section 5. Place of Meetings. All meetings of members shall be held either at the registered office of the Corporation in the City of Hayward, State of Wisconsin, or at such other place within or without the State, as the Board of Directors, upon majority vote, shall find to be convenient. If a Board majority decides an in-person meeting would be impractical or unhealthy due to emergency or extenuating circumstances, a cyber Annual Meeting could be held in accordance with the other provisions of this Article.

Section 6. Notices. Notice of any meeting of the members of the Corporation, in each case specifying the place, date and hour of the meeting and the purpose for which it is called, shall be provided to each member at least ten (10) days prior to the date of the meeting to the address as it appears in the records of the Corporation.

Section 7. Action Without Meeting. Any action, which may be taken at a meeting of the members, may be taken without a meeting if all the members shall individually or collectively consent in writing to such action. Such action by written consent shall have the same force and effect as the unanimous vote of the members.

Section 8. Quorum; Action. One-third (1/3) of the number of members or ten (10) members, whichever is less, shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. Every act or decision done or made by a majority of the members present at a duly held meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act or decision of the members, unless the law, the Articles of Incorporation of the Corporation or these Bylaws require a greater proportion.

Section 9. Adjournment. Any meeting of the members, whether annual or special, and whether or not a quorum is present, may be adjourned from time to time by the vote of a majority of the members present. Notice of the time and place of an adjourned meeting need not be given to absent members if said time and place are fixed at the meeting adjourned. The time of the adjournment shall be noted in the minutes.

Section 10. Resignation. Any member may resign by filing a written resignation with the Secretary of the Corporation.

Section 11. Organization. The President of the Corporation, or in the absence of the President, a chairperson chosen by a majority of the members present, shall act as chair at every meeting of the members. The Secretary of the Corporation, or in the absence of the Secretary any person appointed by the chair of the meeting, shall act as Secretary of the meeting.

ARTICLE III Directors

Section 1. Powers. Subject to the limitations of the Articles of Incorporation of the Corporation, these Bylaws and the laws of the State of Wisconsin, the affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors shall make all rules governing the conduct and management of the Corporation which it deems advisable and which are not in conflict with the purpose of the Corporation, or its

Bylaws. The Board of Directors shall have the power to appoint an Executive Director and such other agents it deems appropriate to carry out the management function of the corporation. Such agents shall at all times be under the control of the Board of Directors and be subject to policies prescribed by the Board of Directors.

Section 2. Number; Election; Appointment; Term.

(a) The number of Directors of this Corporation shall not be greater than fifteen (15) nor less than six (6). In every case other than the exceptions defined in paragraphs (c) and (d) below, Directors shall be elected by the ABSF membership for a term of three (3) years. One-third (1/3) of the Directors shall be elected in each and every successive year. Notwithstanding the above, each Director shall hold office until his successor shall have been elected and have qualified. Directors may be re-elected to serve more than one term in office. Directors need not be residents of the State of Wisconsin but shall be individual or family members of the Corporation. The number of Directors shall be determined by a majority of the Directors and remain so unless changed by a subsequent vote.

(b) All candidates for election to the Board of Directors must be current members of the ABSF and must present in writing to the Secretary at least 45 days prior to the annual meeting of each year the form with their name, signature and email address.

(c) The Board of Directors, by majority vote, may appoint two annual Directors, to represent the interests of Sawyer and Bayfield Counties.

(d) The Board of Directors, by majority vote, may appoint one Director to serve as Treasurer of the Corporation for a three (3) year term.

Section 3. Resignation. A Director may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Secretary or the President of the Corporation, who shall advise the Board of Directors of such resignation. Such resignation shall take effect at the time specified therein or, if no time is specified, then upon receipt of the resignation by the Secretary of the Corporation, and unless otherwise specified therein, acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.

Section 4. Removal. Any individual Director may be removed from office without cause by the vote of three fourths (3/4) of the members present at an annual meeting at which there is a quorum, or with cause (as determined by the Board of Directors) by the vote of three fourths (3/4) of the Board of Directors then in office.

Section 5. Vacancies. A vacancy or vacancies in the Board of Directors occurring for any reason, including an increase in the authorized number of Directors, may be filled by a majority of the Directors then in office at any regular or special meeting at which a quorum is present. Each Director so elected shall hold office for the unexpired portion of the term such Director was elected to fill.

Section 6. Meetings.

(a) Regular Meeting. A regular meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held at the registered office of the Corporation or at any other place within or without the State of Wisconsin, as the Board of Directors from time to time, by resolution, may provide but no less than four times a year, including the annual meeting.

(b) Schedule of Meetings. At the first meeting following the election of a new Board President, the President of the Board shall recommend a schedule of meetings for the next 12 months. Once discussed and approved or amended, this schedule shall be posted on the ABSF website.

(c) Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board of Directors for any purpose or purposes shall be held whenever called by or at the written request of the President or any two Directors. The place of special meetings shall be the office of the Corporation, or such other place as designated by the President.

Section 7. Notices. Notice of any regular or special meeting of the Board of Directors, in each case specifying the place, date and hour of the meeting, shall be given to each Director by delivering notice at least two days before the time set for such meeting. However, such notice may be waived in writing signed by the Director affecting such waiver. Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of any meeting of the Board of Directors need be specified in the notice or waiver of such notice of such meeting, unless specifically required by law or by these Bylaws. The purpose of such meeting shall be specified in the notice of the meeting.

Section 8. Waiver of Notice. The transaction of any meeting of the Board of Directors, however called and noticed or whenever held, shall be as valid as though had at a meeting duly held after regular call and notice, if a quorum is present and if, either before or after the meeting, a written waiver of notice of the meeting, containing the same information as would have been signed by (a) each Director not present at the meeting and (b) each Director present at the meeting who objected thereto to the transaction of any business because the meeting was not lawfully called or convened. All such waivers shall be filed with and made a part of the minutes of the meetings.

Section 9. Action Without Meeting. Any action which may be taken at a meeting of the Board of Directors or any committee thereof may be taken without a meeting if all the Directors or committee members shall consent in writing prior to such action. Such action by written consent shall have the same force and effect as the unanimous vote of the Directors. Written consents issued pursuant to this Section shall be filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Board or the committee.

Section 10. Quorum; Action of Directors. A majority of the number of Directors then in office shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. The act of a majority of the Directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act or decision of the Board of Directors, unless the act of a greater proportion is required by law, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws. Incorporation or these Bylaws.

Section 11. Adjournment. Any meeting of the Board of Directors, whether regular or special, and whether or not a quorum is present, may be adjourned by the vote of a majority of the Directors present.

Section 12. Organization. The President of the Corporation, or in the absence of the President, the Vice President, or a chairman chosen by a majority of the Directors present, shall act as chairman at every meeting of the Board of Directors. The Secretary of the Corporation, or in the absence of the Secretary any person appointed by the chairman of the meeting, shall act as Secretary of the meeting.

Section 13. Telephonic Meetings. Directors may participate in any regular or special meeting or in any meeting of a committee of Directors by any means of communication by which either (1) all participating Directors may simultaneously hear each other during the meeting or (2) all communication during the meeting is immediately transmitted to each participating Director and each participating Director is able to immediately send messages to all other participating Directors. If a meeting is conducted through the use of one of the foregoing means, all participating Directors must be informed that a meeting is taking place at which official business may be transacted. A Director participating in such a meeting is deemed to be present in person at the meeting. Minutes of the meeting shall be prepared and distributed to each Director.

Section 14. Compensation. Directors shall receive no stated salary for their services as such, but by resolution, the Board of Directors may direct expenses to be paid to the Director or Directors for attendance at meetings other than Board Meetings. Nothing herein contained shall be construed to preclude any Director from serving the Corporation in any other capacity, or receiving reasonable compensation therefor.

Section 15. Committees

(a) Standing or Temporary Advisory Committees Without Board Authority. The Board of Directors or the President may authorize, and appoint or remove members of standing and/or temporary committees, comprised of Directors or members or both, to consider appropriate matters, make reports to the President and/or Board of Directors, and fulfill such

other advisory functions as may be designated. The designation of such standing and/or temporary committees, and the members thereof, shall be recorded in the minutes of the Board of Directors. The committees shall be required to keep regular minutes of their transactions and shall report the same to the Board at their regular meetings or upon request.

Section 16. Director or Employee Conflicts of Interest.

(a) Purpose. The purpose of this policy is to protect the ABSF's interests when it is contemplating entering into a transaction or arrangement that might benefit the private interests of an officer, director or employee of ABSF or might result in a possible excess

benefit transaction, as well as to ensure ethical and transparent operations of the organization.

(b) Definitions.

(1) Interested person -- Any director, principal officer, or member of a committee with governing board delegated powers, who has a direct or indirect financial interest, as defined below, is an interested person.

(2) Financial interest -- A person has a financial interest if the person has, directly or indirectly, through business, investment, or family:

a. An ownership or investment interest in any entity with which ABSF has a transaction or arrangement,

b. A compensation arrangement with ABSF or with any entity or individual with which ABSF has a transaction or arrangement, or

c. A potential ownership or investment interest in, or compensation arrangement with, any entity or individual with which ABSF is negotiating a transaction or arrangement.

(3) Compensation includes direct and indirect remuneration as well as gifts or favors that are not insubstantial. A financial interest is not necessarily a conflict of interest. A person who has a financial interest may have a conflict of interest only if the Board decides that a conflict of interest exists, in accordance with this policy.

(4) Independent Director -- A director shall be considered “independent” for the purposes of this policy if he or she is “independent” as defined in the instructions for the IRS 990 form or, until such definition is available, the director –

a. is not, and has not been for a period of at least three years, an employee of ABSF or any entity in which ABSF has a financial interest;

b. does not directly or indirectly have a significant business relationship

with ABSF, which might affect independence in decision-making;

c. does not have an immediate family member who is an executive officer or employee of ABSF or who holds a position that has a significant financial relationship with ABSF.

(d) Procedures

(1) Duty to Disclose -- In connection with any actual or possible conflict of interest, an interested person must disclose the existence of the financial interest and be given the opportunity to disclose all material facts to the Board.

(2) Recusal of Self – Any director may recuse himself or herself at any time from involvement in any decision or discussion in which the director believes he or she has or may have a conflict of interest, without going through the process for determining whether a conflict of interest exists.

(3) Determining Whether a Conflict of Interest Exists -- After disclosure of the financial interest and all material facts, and after any discussion with the interested person, he/she shall leave the Board meeting while the determination of a conflict of interest is discussed and voted upon. The remaining Board members shall decide if a conflict of interest exists.

(4) Procedures for Addressing the Conflict of Interest

a. An interested person may make a presentation at the Board or meeting, but after the presentation, he/she shall leave the meeting during the discussion of, and the vote on, the transaction or arrangement involving the possible conflict of interest.

b. The Chairperson of the Board shall, if appropriate, appoint a disinterested person or committee to investigate alternatives to the proposed transaction or arrangement.

c. After exercising due diligence, the Board shall determine whether the ABSF can obtain with reasonable efforts a more advantageous transaction or arrangement from a person or entity that would not give rise to a conflict of interest.

d. If a more advantageous transaction or arrangement is not

reasonably possible under circumstances not producing a conflict of interest, the Board shall determine by a majority vote of the disinterested directors whether the transaction or arrangement is in the ABSF's best interest, for its own benefit, and whether it is fair and reasonable. In conformity with the above determination, it shall make its decision as to whether to enter into the transaction or arrangement.

(5) Violations of the Conflicts of Interest Policy

a. If the Board of Directors has reasonable cause to believe a director or employee has failed to disclose actual or possible conflicts of interest, it shall inform the director or employee of the basis for such belief and afford him or her an opportunity to explain the alleged failure to disclose.

b. If, after hearing the director's or employee's response and after making further investigation as warranted by the circumstances, the governing board or committee determines the director or employee has failed to disclose an actual or possible conflict of interest, it shall take appropriate disciplinary and corrective action.

(c) Compensation

(1) A voting member of the Board who receives compensation, directly or indirectly, from ABSF for services is precluded from voting on matters pertaining to that member's compensation. If this matter arises in consideration of the annual budget, the member shall be precluded from voting on the item in question but may vote on approval of the overall budget.

(2) No voting member of the Board or any committee whose jurisdiction includes compensation matters and who receives compensation, directly or indirectly, from ABSF, either individually or collectively, is prohibited from providing information to any committee regarding compensation.

Section 17. Employee Compensation. The Board of Directors or their appointee shall fix the salaries of all employees.

ARTICLE IV Officers

Section 1. Officers. The Corporation shall have a President, a Vice-President, a Secretary, a Treasurer and such other officers or assistant officers as the Directors may from time to time elect. No officer may hold any more than one office at one time.

Section 2. Election. The officers of the Corporation shall be chosen annually by a majority of the Board of Directors at its second meeting following the annual meeting, and each officer shall hold office for one year and until such officer's successor shall have been duly elected and qualified, or until such officer's death, resignation or removal. Election or appointment as an officer shall not of itself create contract rights.

Section 3. Resignation. Any officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Board of Directors or the Secretary of the Corporation. Such resignation shall take effect at the time specified therein or, if no time is specified, then upon receipt of the resignation by the Secretary or the Board of Directors as the case may be, and, unless otherwise specified therein, acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective. That officer shall be replaced at the next meeting of the Board of Directors. The President may appoint a temporary officer to fill the vacancy until the next board meeting.

Section 4. Removal. Any officer may be removed from office without cause by the action of 2/3 of the Board of Directors then in office.

Section 5. President. The President shall be the chief executive officer of the Corporation and shall have such duties, responsibilities and powers as may be necessary to carry out the directions and policies of the Board of Directors or as are prescribed in these Bylaws or otherwise delegated by the Board of Directors and shall at all times be subject to the policies control and direction of the Board of Directors. The President shall make reports to the Directors and members. He may sign and execute, in the name of the Corporation, any instrument or document consistent with the foregoing general delegation of authority or any other instrument or document specifically authorized by the Board of Directors,

except when the signing and execution thereof shall have been expressly delegated by the Board of Directors or by these Bylaws to some other officer or agent of the Corporation; provided, that neither the President nor any other officer may sign any deed or instrument of conveyance or endorse any security or execute any checks, drafts, or other orders for payment of money, notes, acceptances, or other evidence of indebtedness without the specific authority of the Board of Directors pursuant to Article V below of these Bylaws dealing with such matters. The President shall, whenever it may in the President's opinion be necessary, prescribe the duties of other officers and employees of the Corporation, in a manner not inconsistent with the provisions of these Bylaws and the directions of the Board of Directors.

Section 6. Vice President. The Vice President shall perform all such duties as may be properly required of him by the Board of Directors or the President. In the absence or disability of the President, the Vice-President shall perform the duties of the President, and when so acting shall have all the powers of, and be subject to all the restrictions on, the President.

Section 7. Secretary. The Secretary shall perform or have performed under the Secretary's direction the following functions:

- (a) Keep the minutes of the meeting of the Directors including any documentation referenced in resolutions passed by the Board of Directors, and members.
- (b) Administer the annual election of Board of Directors. If the Secretary is a candidate for re-election, either the President of the Board or his or her designee on the board shall administer the election, provided that the administrator must not be a candidate for re-election.
- (c) Certify and keep at a location designated by the Board of Directors the original or a copy of its Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws, as amended or otherwise altered to date, and such other documentation as may be determined by the Board of Directors.
- (d) Keep at the principal office of the Corporation or such other place as the Board of Directors may direct, a book of minutes, in printed or electronic format, of all meetings of the members of the Corporation, the Board of Directors and committees thereof, with the time and place of holding, whether regular or special and, if special, how authorized, the notice thereof given, and the names of those present at the meetings.
- (e) Prepare from the records of the Corporation a Procedures Manual to organize the established and regular policies, procedures, and pronouncements of the Board to ensure that the Board's tasks are conducted in a regular, orderly transparent and ethical fashion. The Board may, by simple majority vote to revise this Manual. This Manual and the Bylaws shall be the governing documents of the ABSF.
- (f) See that all notices are duly given in accordance with the provisions of these Bylaws or as required by law.

(g) Be custodian of the records of the Corporation.

(h) See that the books, reports, statements and all other documents and records required by law are properly kept and filed.

(i) Exhibit for inspection upon request the relevant books and records of the Corporation to any member for any proper purpose at any reasonable time.

(j) In general, perform all duties incident to the office of Secretary, and such other duties as from time to time may be assigned by the Board of Directors.

Section 8. Treasurer. The Treasurer shall perform or have performed under the Treasurer's direction the following functions:

(a) Have charge and custody of, and be responsible for, all funds and securities of the Corporation, and deposit all such funds in the name of the Corporation in such banks, trust companies or other depositaries as shall be selected by the Board of Directors.

(b) Keep and maintain adequate and correct accounts of the Corporation's properties and business transactions, including account of its assets, liabilities, receipts, disbursements, gains, losses, capital and surplus.

(c) Exhibit for inspection upon request the relevant books and records of the Corporation to any member for any proper purpose at any reasonable time.

(d) Render interim statements of the condition of the finances of the Corporation to the Board of Directors upon request, and render a full financial report at the annual meeting of the Board of Directors.

(e) Receive, and give receipt for, moneys due and payable to the Corporation from any source whatsoever, and disburse the funds of the Corporation as may be ordered by the Board of Directors or the President.

(f) In general, perform all the duties incident to the office of Treasurer and such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to the Treasurer by the Board of Directors.

Section 9. Compensation. All officers shall act as such without compensation.

ARTICLE V Instruments; Bank accounts; Checks And Drafts; Loans Securities

Section 1. Execution of Instruments. Except as in these Bylaws otherwise provided, the Board of Directors may authorize any officer or officers, agent or agents, to enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the Corporation, and such authorization may be general or confined to specific instances. Except as so authorized, or as in these Bylaws otherwise expressly provided, no officer, agent or employee shall have any power or authority

to bind the Corporation by any contract or engagement or to pledge its credit or to render it liable for any purpose in any amount. This provision does not prevent the Executive Director or employees under his or her direct supervision from incurring credit card debt within the framework of the approved budget. Under no circumstances can the amount of credit card charges exceed an amount that the corporation can pay each month without incurring late fees or interest charges.

Section 2. Bank Accounts. The Board of Directors from time to time may authorize the opening and keeping of general and/or special bank accounts with such banks, trust companies or other depositaries as may be selected by the Board or by any officer or officers, agent or agents of the Corporation to whom such power may be delegated from time to time by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may make such rules and regulations with respect to said bank accounts, not inconsistent with the provisions of these Bylaws, as the Board may deem expedient.

Section 3. Checks and Drafts. All checks, drafts or other orders for the payment of money, notes, acceptances, or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of the Corporation, shall be signed by such officer or officers, agent or agents, of the Corporation, and in such manner, as shall be determined from time to time by resolution of the Board of Directors. Endorsements for deposit to the credit of the Corporation in any of its duly authorized depositaries may be made without countersignature, by the President or Vice-President, the

Treasurer or any Assistant Treasurer, or by any other officer or agent of the Corporation to whom the Board of Directors, by resolution, shall have delegated such power.

Section 4. Loans. No loans shall be contracted on behalf of the Corporation and no evidence of indebtedness shall be issued in its name unless authorized by or under the authority of a resolution of the Board of Directors. Such authority may be general or confined to specific instances. No loans may be made to any officer, or Director or employee of the Corporation, directly or indirectly. The only exception to this is that reasonable advances of reimbursable expenses may be made in at the discretion of the President or, in the case of the President, as determined by the Board of Directors, or by either the Executive Director or an employee at the direction of the Executive Director within the framework of the approved budget.

Section 5. Sale of Securities. The Board of Directors may authorize and empower any officer or officers to sell, assign or pledge any and all shares of stocks, bonds or securities, or interest in stocks, bonds or securities, owned or held by the Corporation at any time, including without limitation because of enumeration, deposit certificates for stocks and warrants or rights which entitle the holder thereof to subscribe for shares of stock, and to make and execute to the purchaser or purchasers, pledgee or pledgees, on behalf and in the name of the Corporation, any assignment of bonds or stock certificates

representing shares of stock owned or held by the Corporation, and any deposit certificates for stock, and any certificates representing any rights to subscribe for shares of stock. However, the Corporation shall not offer or sell any securities in violation of any State or Federal securities law registration or other requirement.

ARTICLE VI Management of Corporate Funds

No funds received by donation, bequest or any other means shall be diverted from the use to which they may be assigned by the donor, testator or testatrix unless such use is contrary to or in conflict with the purposes of the Corporation.

ARTICLE VII Miscellaneous

Section 1. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Corporation shall end on such date as shall be established by the Board of Directors.

Section 2. Electronic Delivery. Any instrument or document required to be signed or executed shall be deemed signed and executed if a copy of the signed or executed agreement is delivered by electronic transmission to the recipient's address as it appears in the records of the Corporation.

ARTICLE VIII Waiver of Notice

Whenever, under the laws of the State of Wisconsin, or by the provision of these Bylaws, a waiver in writing is signed by persons entitled to such notice, whether before or after the time stated therein, it shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of such notice.

ARTICLE IX Indemnification

Section 1. Indemnification. Every person who is or shall be or shall have been a director, trustee, or officer of the corporation and his or her personal representative shall be indemnified by the corporation against all costs and expenses reasonably incurred by or imposed upon him or her in connection with or resulting from any action, suit or proceeding to which he or she may be made a party by reason of his or her being or having been a Director or officer of the Corporation or of any subsidiary or affiliate thereof. "Costs and expenses" shall include, but without limiting the generality thereof, attorney's fees, damages, and reasonable amounts paid in settlement.

However, the Corporation need not indemnify such director, trustee, officer or representative where such person's liability was incurred because the director or officer breached or failed to perform a duty he or she owes to the corporation and the breach or failure to perform constitutes any of the following:

(a) A willful failure to deal fairly or honestly with the corporation or its members in connection with a matter in which the director or officer has a material conflict of interest.

(b) A violation of criminal law, unless the director or officer had reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was lawful or no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful.

(c) A transaction from which the director or officer derived an improper personal profit.

(d) Willful misconduct.

Section 2. Limited Liability of Volunteers. Each individual (other than an employee of the Corporation) who provides services to or on behalf of the Corporation without compensation ("Volunteer") shall be immune from liability to any person for damages, settlements, fees, fines, penalties or other monetary liabilities arising from any act or omission as a Volunteer, to the fullest extent provided by Section 181.297 of the Wisconsin Nonstock Corporation Law or any similar successor provision thereto. For purposes of this section, it shall be conclusively presumed that any Volunteer who is licensed, certified, permitted or registered under state law and who is performing services to or on behalf of the Corporation without compensation is not acting within the scope of his or her professional practice under such license, certificate, permit or registration, unless otherwise expressly indicated to the Corporation in writing.

Section 3. Private Foundation Limitation. Notwithstanding the foregoing, at any time when the Corporation is or becomes a "private foundation" within the meaning of Section 509(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or Section 181.77 of the Wisconsin Statutes, the following limitation shall apply: No indemnification will be permitted to the extent such indemnification would constitute an act of "self-dealing" or is otherwise subject to excise taxes under Chapter 42 of the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or is prohibited under Section 181.77 of the Wisconsin Statutes or any similar successor provision thereto.

ARTICLE X Amendment

The Board of Directors shall have the power to make, amend and repeal the Bylaws of this Corporation by an affirmative vote of two-thirds of the Directors then in office. Any amendments which change Article III, Section 2, or Article III, Section 14, must be affirmed by a majority of the members at an annual meeting.

ARTICLE XI Dissolution of Corporation

Upon dissolution of this Corporation, any and all assets of said Corporation shall be disposed of by transferring the same to an exempt, not-for-profit corporation qualified as such under Section 501(c) 3, of the Internal Revenue Code.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, we have hereunto subscribed our names this 20th day of October 1993.

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned Secretary of the Corporation, known as the American Birkebeiner Ski Foundation, Inc., does certify that the above and foregoing Bylaws were duly adopted by the Directors of said Corporation, pursuant to Section 181.13, of the Wisconsin Statutes, as the Bylaws of said Corporation, on the 20th day of October, 1993, and that they now constitute the Bylaws of said Corporation.

Amended: November 16, 2009, March 16, 2015, May 3, 2016, September 19, 2016, December 5, 2016, April 24, 2017, April 12, 2018, May 21, 2018, October 15, 2018, December 3, 2018.

Amended: September 23, 2019 Dated: _____

ATTEST:

_____ Paul Eckerline, President

_____ Kathy Pautsch, Secretary